2008

LD III, LLC v. BBRD, L.C. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

The jurisdiction of all appellate courts "shall be provided by statute."¹ Section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code, provides that: "The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction..., over orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction[.]"² This is an appeal from the final judgment of the Fourth District Court in a civil matter, and although it has original appellate jurisdiction, the Supreme Court has transferred this matter to the Court of Appeals pursuant to § 78-2-2(4) and § 78-2a-3(2)(j), which provide that the Supreme Court may transfer any matter over which it has original appellate jurisdiction.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the District Court erred by determining an enforceable settlement agreement had been reached between the parties when the parties never agreed on all the material terms of settlement and a writing acceptable to the parties was never agreed upon, prepared or executed by the parties.

¹ Utah Const., Article VIII, § 5.

² Ut. Code Ann., § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1953, as amended).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The issue of whether a contract exists may present both questions of law and fact, depending on the nature of the claims raised." *Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George*, 865 P.2d 1373, 1375 (Utah App. 1993); *see O'Hara v. Hall*, 628 P.2d 1289, 1290-91 (Utah 1981) (existence of a contract is generally a conclusion of law, unless there is a material dispute of fact, which presents a subsidiary question of fact). "Factual findings made by the trial court will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous." *Mostrong v. Jackson*, 866 P.2d 573, 577 (Utah App. 1993) (citing *In Re Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989)). "Legal conclusions are reviewed for correction of error." *Mostrong*, 866 P.2d at 577 (citing *Marchant v. Park City*, 771 P.2d 677, 680 (Utah App. 1989), *aff'd*, 788 P.2d 520 (Utah 1990)).

RULES AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPEAL

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case:

The Statute of Frauds requires any agreement for the sale or purchase of real property to be in writing to be enforceable. See Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-1. Plaintiff LD III, LLC ("LD III") is the owner of real property located in Utah County. See Court Record, the "Rec." pp. 17-15, ¶ 3. In August of 2007, Defendant Davis made an offer to purchase the real property from LD III. Rec. 370-366. The offer was set out in a standard form Real Estate Purchase Contract for Land (the "REPC"). The buyer was listed on the REPC as BBRD, Inc.³ and/or Richard Davis (collectively "Davis"). The REPC contained all the terms of the sale, including performance dates, that "time was of the essence" and others. *Id.* LD III accepted the offer contained in the REPC. *Id.* Thereafter Davis failed to close the purchase by the deadline contained in the REPC. Therefore the REPC lapsed. Rec. 14-1.

Notwithstanding Davis' failure to perform, he recorded a "Notice of Interest" in the records of the Utah County Recorder. Rec. 69-68. LD III filed this action to have the lien removed. Rec. 14-1. During an expedited discovery process, the parties began settlement discussions. The parties discussed settling the matter on terms modeled after the REPC, but with adjusted closing dates and other terms to be offered by Davis and approved by LD III. Davis agreed to prepare the settlement documents for review and approval by LD III,

3

It is important to note that BBRD, Inc. does not exist and has never existed as a registered corporate entity.

including a settlement agreement containing all of the specific terms of settlement and closing documents which the parties would sign to resolve the matter and create an enforceable contract to transfer the property. New closing dates were not discussed, but were to be included in the written settlement documents.

Davis did not prepare a settlement agreement. Instead, Davis provided LD III with closing documents which contained new terms to which LD III had never agreed. The closing documents Davis prepared constituted a very different offer for settlement than had been discussed, contained terms the parties had never discussed and did not contain material terms, including new dates for performance. See Rec. 328-307. The new and different settlement offer contained terms which were unacceptable and never agreed to by LD III. Davis' new offer to settle involved new parties and would have created unacceptable risks for LD III and its sole member because it constituted a scheme by Davis to evade income taxes. *Id.* LD III rejected this offer to settle. Rec. 372 (see email from Daniel B. Garriott to Michael Zundel dated August 20, 2008). When LD III refused to accept the terms offered as contained in the closing documents Davis prepared, Davis moved the District Court to enforce what he has argued to be an enforceable contract. Rec. 257-255.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below:

Defendants filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement, which was fully briefed by each party. Rec. 423-255. The motion was argued before Judge Fred D. Howard of the

Fourth Judicial District Court on September 17, 2008. Rec. 365. The Court requested post-hearing briefs, which were filed on September 19, 2008. Rec. 423-364. On September 23, 2008, the Court held a short telephone conference with the parties' counsel, in which it granted Defendants' Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement. Rec. 416. The Court entered an Order granting Defendant's Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement. Rec. 453-450 (a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix Exhibit 1). LD III timely appealed the District Court's decision. Rec. 432.

Facts established in the District Court Record:

1. LD III owns of certain real property and water rights located in Utah County. Rec. 17-15.
2. On August 29, 2007, Davis offered to purchase the real property and water rights. Rec. 370-366 (a copy of the REPC is attached hereto as Appendix Exhibit 2.)
3. The REPC required Davis to pay \$1,500,000.00 for the real property and water rights, with \$10,000.00 as an earnest money deposit and the remaining \$1,490,000.00 to be paid in cash at closing. *Id.*
4. The deadline for closing was September 28, 2007. *Id.* at ¶24(c).
5. Davis failed to close and pay the balance of the purchase price prior to the closing date of September 28, 2007. Rec. 14-1.
6. On December 26, 2007, Davis recorded a "Notice of Interest" against the real property. Rec. 69-68.

7. On February 1, 2008, LD III initiated this action to remove the lien. Rec. 14-1.

8. On July 9, 2008, LD III's counsel, Denver Snuffer, participated in a telephone conference with Davis' counsel, Michael Zundel and Jim Boevers. See Rec. 288-283 (the Affidavit of Defendant's counsel, Michael Zundel (hereinafter "Zundel Aff.", ¶ 6); see also, Rec. 306-304 (the Affidavit of Defendant's counsel James A. Boevers (hereinafter "Boevers Aff."), ¶ 31.

9. During the telephone conference, Mr. Zundel asked Mr. Snuffer if LD III would be willing to settle the matter on terms modeled after the REPC. See Rec. 288-283 (Zundel Aff.) ¶7 and Rec. 272, Ex. E to Zundel Aff.; see also Rec. 306-304 (Boevers Aff.), ¶4 and Rec. 301-297 (Ex. A thereto.) Mr. Snuffer replied that he could not respond until after he had conferred with his client. Several days later, having conferred with LD III, Mr. Snuffer communicated to Mr. Zundel that LD III was willing to consider settlement terms similar to the terms contained in the REPC. See Rec. 693, pp. 19:9-25; 20; 21:1-13.

10. However, both parties knew that a settlement agreement would have to be in writing to be enforceable and that additional terms would need to be agreed to by both parties. Davis' counsel agreed to draw up settlement documents which would include all the material terms settlement so Mr. Snuffer could present them to and discuss them with LD III. Rec. 288-283 (Zundel Aff.), ¶9.

11. The parties had not agreed on critical, material terms of settlement including closing dates and allocation issues, as the sale included the sale of both real property and water rights. See Rec. 693, pp. 23:18-25; 24:1-13.

12. On July 28, 2008, almost three weeks after the telephone conference between the parties' counsel, Davis' counsel, Mr. Richard H. Thornton, sent an e-mail to Mr. Snuffer, attaching drafts of closing documents Mr. Thornton had prepared. *Id.* at ¶¶ 9-10; see also Rec. 328-307 (copy of closing documents prepared and sent by Mr. Thornton).

13. The closing documents attached to the July 28, 2008 email did not include a settlement agreement document. See Rec. 328-307. Further, the closing documents contained material terms to which LD III had not agreed and that were not in conformity with the parties' settlement discussions. *Id.* The documents provided by Davis' counsel therefore constituted a counteroffer. (These documents shall be referred to as the "Counteroffer".) See Rec. 328-307 (Counteroffer), Rec. 301-297 (REPC). Among other things, instead of selling the real property and water rights to Davis, the Counteroffer requires LD III to sell the real property and water rights to five separate parties/entities. Rec. 328-307.

14. The Counteroffer required LD III to **transfer** the real property and water rights, not just to Davis, but to: (a) Stephen Sandstrom and Jennifer Sandstrom; (b) SWLRD, LLC a/k/a SWRD, LLC; (c) PBRD, LLC; (d) Richard W. Davis and Beverly B. Davis, trustees of the R.W. David Family Protection Trust dated the 4th day of December 2000; and (e) BBRD, L.C. The Counteroffer implicates LD III and its sole member in a tax evasion

scheme.^{4 5 6} *Id.* (see also Appendix Exhibit 3.) The Settlement Statement prepared by Davis shows that Davis is the buyer of the real property and water rights. However, Davis did not receive title to any ownership rights under the terms of the Counteroffer. *Id.* The Counteroffer allows Davis to "pay" for the property, divide it into six parcels, transfer five parcels to other parties (these other five parties would pay for the entire purchase), and retain

⁴The tables in footnotes 5 and 6 demonstrate the difference in the nature of the transaction between the REPC (Rec. 370-66) and the Counteroffer (Rec. 328-07).

⁵REPC

Seller	Buyer	Proposed Owner	Acres of Property to be Purchased	Shares of Water to be Purchased
LD III, LLC	BBRD, Inc. and/or Richard W. Davis	BBRD, Inc. and/or Richard W. Davis	70.81	25.93

⁶COUNTEROFFER

Seller	Buyer	Proposed Owner	Acres of Property to be Purchased	Shares of Water to be Purchased
LD III, LLC	BBRD, Inc. and/or Richard W. Davis	Stephen and Jennifer Sandstrom	7.496	2.0
		SWLRD, LLC a/k/a SWRD, LLC	7.506	2.0
		PBRD, LLC	7.500	2.0
		Richard W. Davis and Beverly B. Davis, trustees of the R.W. Davis Family Protection Trust dated the 4 th day of December 2000	10.500	2.0
		BBRD, LC	37.808	21.93

one parcel worth \$300,000.00 without Davis recognizing any taxable gain on the sale of the five parcels. See Rec. 699, p. 11:3-12, 15:8-12.

15. Leslie D. Mower, the sole member of LD III, has been previously convicted of conspiracy to commit tax evasion. (See *United States v. Leslie Mower*, U.S. District Court for the District of Utah, Case No. 2:02-CR-00787.)

16. Because the Counteroffer constituted a scheme by Davis to evade paying income tax on the sale of the five parcels, Ms. Mower and her tax advisors determined the Counteroffer would implicate her in a tax evasion scheme and therefore could not be accepted. Rec. 395-390.

17. On August 20, 2008, LD III, rejected the Counteroffer. Rec. 372, see also Appendix Exhibit 4.

18. There never was a settlement agreement reached in this matter. *Id.* LD III is unwilling to deal with Davis regarding the real property because of his attempt to implicate LD III and its sole member in a scheme to evade income taxes. Rec. 395-390.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case concerns the failed sale of real property and water rights, and the recording of a wrongful lien. The parties discussed settlement terms modeled after the REPC, but had yet to agree to all material terms of settlement. After discussions between counsel, Davis agreed to prepare settlement documents containing the specific terms of Davis' settlement offer. However, he did not do this. The documents which Davis prepared contained

different settlement terms than had been discussed by the parties and imposed risks and burdens to LD III that were unacceptable. Therefore LD III rejected the Counteroffer, leaving the parties without any settlement agreement.

Every contract requires a "meeting of the minds." In this case, there was no meeting of the minds. This is evident by comparing the REPC and the Counteroffer. LD III expected Davis to prepare a settlement agreement modeled after the terms in the REPC. However, the Counteroffer did not do that, rather it contained materially different terms. The District Court's decision to find an enforceable settlement "agreement" was in error because there was no meeting of the minds, or alternatively because the Counteroffer constituted a rejection of the settlement terms discussed by the parties and was rejected by LD III. There was no agreement.

Furthermore, the Counteroffer presumes an assignment of Davis' interest to new and different parties who were strangers to the REPC. Davis previously argued that such an assignment was valid and acceptable. That, however, is not the case. There was no provision in the REPC, on which the parties' settlement was modeled, allowing for assignment. The Counteroffer created additional risks and burdens upon LD III that are unacceptable. It was of serious consequence to LD III that Davis attempted to make the attempted assignment. As such, there is no agreement between the parties and the District Court's decision was in error and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

The parties discussed settlement and Defendants were to prepare a writing memorializing a proposed form for agreement, as required not only by the parties' discussions, but also by the Utah Statute of Frauds. See Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-1 (1998). There could be no settlement without a writing in this case, and the parties believed there remained material terms left to be discussed, including specific dates of performance. The documents which were prepared, however, did not reflect the transaction described in the REPC, did not involve the same parties as the REPC, nor did they contain all material terms necessary to complete the transaction.

These documents, which are referred to herein as the "Counteroffer," contemplate not one transaction between one buyer and one seller, as discussed, but involve multiple buyers (who were to pay for the entirety of the transaction (see Rec. 699, p. 11:3-12, 15:8-12)) in multiple transactions. The Counteroffer is constructed in an apparent attempt to avoid the payment of taxes by Davis for \$300,000 in profits made on the resale of the property by Davis to his buyers. In effect, the transaction written up by Davis removes him as the buyer and re-seller to the third parties, and instead makes the transaction a direct sale between LD III and these third parties, but gifts to Davis a portion of the property worth at least 25% of the purchase price, free and clear, without any cost to him. The tax implications of this new and very different transaction are significant and create unacceptable risks and burdens to the LD III, which it was entitled to reject. Essentially Davis was asking LD III to agree to join

him in concealing \$300,000 in taxable gain. Given the foregoing, it was error for the District Court to find an enforceable settlement agreement.

I. The Alleged Settlement Agreement Is Not Enforceable Because There Was No Meeting of the Minds.

"It is a basic rule that the law favors the settlement of disputes. Such agreements under the proper circumstances may be summarily enforced. However, whether a court should enforce such an agreement does not turn merely on the character of the agreement. An agreement of compromise and settlement constitutes an executory accord. Since an executory accord 'constitutes a valid enforceable contract,' basic contract principles affect the determination of when a settlement agreement should be so enforced."

Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Sys., Inc., 866 P.2d 581, 584 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting *Mascaro v. Davis*, 741 P.2d 938, 942 (Utah 1987) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted) (quoting *Lawrence Constr. Co. v. Holmquist*, 642 P.2d 382, 384 (Utah 1982))); accord *Zions First Nat'l Bank v. Barbara Jensen Interiors, Inc.*, 781 P.2d 478, 479 (Utah App. 1989). For a settlement agreement to be enforced, the basic contract law requirements - offer, acceptance, consideration, and a meeting of the minds - are necessary for a valid agreement to exist. See *Peirce v. Peirce*, 994 P.2d 193, 199 (Utah 2000); *Cove View Excavating & Constr. Co. v. Flynn*, 758 P.2d 474, 476 (Utah Ct. App. 1988); see also *Oberhansley v. Earle*, 572 P.2d 1384, 1386 (Utah 1977) (stating "[i]t is a basic principle of contract law there can be no contract without a meeting of the minds of the parties.")

In *Crismon v. Western Co. of North America*, 742 P.2d 1219 (Utah App. 1987), the Utah Court of Appeals stated that "contractual mutual assent requires assent by all parties to the same thing in the same sense so that their minds meet as to all the terms." *Id.* at 1221;

see also Sackler v. Savin, 897 P.2d 1217, 1220-22 (Utah 1995) (holding that to form an enforceable settlement agreement, there must be a meeting of the minds). Determining whether the specific terms omitted were essential to the agreement requires an examination of the entire agreement and the circumstances under which the agreement was entered into. *Id.* at 1221-22 (quoting *Cessna Fin. Corp. v. Meyer*, 575 P.2d 1048, 1050 (Utah 1978)). "If there was evidence from which it would be reasonable to find that there was [no] meeting of the minds, the decision [decided as a matter of law] cannot be sustained." *R.J. Daum Constr. Co. v. Child*, 122 Utah 194, 196-97, 247 P.2d 817, 818 (1952). In this instance, it is evident there was no meeting of the minds, and therefore it was error for the District Court to find there to be an enforceable agreement.

Under Utah law, the party claiming the existence of a contract has the burden to prove "there has been mutual assent by the parties manifesting their intention to be bound by its terms." *Cal Wadsworth Constr. v. City of St. George*, 898 P.2d 1372, 1376 (Utah 1995); *see also Oberhansley v. Earle*, 572 P.2d 1384, 1386 (Utah 1977) (*citing B & R Supply Co. v. Bringham*, 503 P.2d 1216, 1217 (Utah 1972)). "Contractual mutual assent requires assent by all parties to the same thing in the same sense so that their minds meet as to all the terms." *Cessna Fin. Corp. v. Meyer*, 575 P.2d 1048, 1050 (Utah 1978).

"[A] contract can be enforced by the courts only if the obligations of the parties are set forth with sufficient definiteness that it can be performed." *Bunnell v. Bills*, 368 P.2d 597, 600 (Utah 1962), *overruled in part on other grounds by Leigh Furniture & Carpet Co.*

v. Isom, 657 P.2d 293, 302-04 (Utah 1982). "If 'there was simply some nebulous notion in the air that a contract might be entered into in the future, the court cannot fabricate the kind of contract the parties ought to have made and enforce it.'" *Homestead Golf Club v. Pride Stables*, 224 F.3d 1195, 1200 (10th Cir. 2000) (quoting *Valcarce v. Bitter*, 362 P.2d 427, 428-29 (Utah 1961)).

In *Homestead Golf Club*, the parties disputed whether an oral settlement agreement was an enforceable contract. *Id.* at 1199. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals held that no enforceable settlement agreement existed because essential terms were missing, namely the funding date of the loan, the interest rate, and the payment schedule. *Id.* at 1200-01. Specifically, the *Homestead* court ruled the parties merely entered into an "agreement to agree" because essential material terms were missing, thereby preventing an enforceable agreement. *Id.* Citing *Harmon v. Greenwood*, 596 P.2d 636, 639 (Utah 1979), the *Homestead* court found an agreement to agree is "unenforceable because [it] leave[s] open material terms for future consideration, and the courts cannot create these terms for the parties." *Homestead Golf Club*, 224 F.3d at 1200-01.

Homestead Golf Club is directly applicable to this case. Here, LD III and Davis did not enter into an enforceable settlement agreement. The parties discussed a settlement modeled after the terms contained in the REPC. However, material terms were not agreed upon. LD III and Davis did not come to any agreement on the dates of performance, including when the transaction would commence and close, when the loan would be funded,

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