2008

LD III, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v.
BBRD, L.C., a Utah limited liability company;
Richard W. Davis, an individual; Tim Herrera, an
individual; Mountain West Title Company; and
BBRD, Inc., an alter ego of Richard W. Davis : Brief
of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court found that the parties reached agreement on a settlement, the terms of which allowed Davis to require LDIII to transfer portions of the subject real property, and appurtenant water rights/shares, directly to Davis' designees. The evidence in support of those findings is undisputed, and LDIII has made no attempt to marshal that evidence.

The settlement agreement is evidenced by e-mail exchanges between counsel for LDIII and counsel for defendants, who each had the requisite settlement authority. The terms of the settlement are further evidenced by the written REPC, upon which the settlement was partially based. Thus, contrary to LDIII's arguments, there is no statute of frauds issue here, either because the agreement was not required to be memorialized in a writing signed by the parties, or because it was adequately documented as set forth above.

The parties, through their respective counsel, further agreed that the only additional documentation of the settlement would be the documentation necessary to close the real estate transaction in accordance with the REPC, and a stipulation and order of dismissal. Counsel for defendants prepared proposed closing documents and e-mailed them to counsel for LDIII. This e-mail highlighted that Davis was proposing transfers directly from LDIII to his designees.

This proposal was consistent with the settlement agreement, and was neither a counter offer nor a material change to the settlement agreement. Transfers by LDIII

directly to Davis' designees were also consistent with the parties' pre-lawsuit course of conduct under the REPC. In addition, the REPC had no anti-assignment provision.

After receiving the proposed closing documents, LDIII's counsel confirmed that the parties had reached a settlement agreement. Three weeks later, LDIII's counsel reneged and contended, without explanation, that there was no settlement agreement. Counsel for defendants' request for an explanation was ignored.

LDIII's response to defendants' motion to enforce the settlement agreement finally disclosed that, notwithstanding LDIII's obligation under the settlement agreement to transfer directly to Davis' designees, LDIII was objecting to such transfers, alleging they were an attempt by Davis to commit tax fraud. There is no evidence in the record to support that defamatory allegation.

Nevertheless, Davis resolved LDIII's only objection to the form of the closing documents, by agreeing to accept the transfers of the subject real property and appurtenant water to him, rather than his designees, tendered the closing funds and was ready willing and able to close. However, LDIII still refused to close, in violation of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Thus, this Court should affirm the district court order enforcing the settlement agreement. In addition, pursuant to *Utah R. App. P. 33*, this Court should determine that LDIII's appeal is frivolous, because there is no factual basis for it. LDIII fails to marshal the evidence in support of the district court findings of fact, and misrepresents the facts that are in the record. Defendants should be awarded their damages for the frivolous

appeal, against LDIII and/or its counsel, consisting of defendants' reasonable attorney fees incurred on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE PARTIES REACHED AGREEMENT ON A SETTLEMENT WHICH ALLOWED DAVIS TO REQUIRE TRANSFERS DIRECTLY TO DAVIS' DESIGNEES, AND LDIII FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THOSE FINDINGS

Settlement Agreements may be summarily enforced upon motion, without an evidentiary hearing. *See, Goodmansen v. Liberty Vending Systems, Inc.*, 866 P.2d 581, 584, n. 2 (Utah App. 1993); *L&A Drywall, Inc., v. Whitmore Construction Co., Inc.*, 608 P.2d 626, 629 (Utah 1980). Contrary to LDIII's statute of fraud argument, a settlement agreement is enforceable even if it is not signed by the parties to the agreement. *Goodmansen, supra*, 866 P.2d at 584-86 (enforcing settlement agreement created by exchange of correspondence between counsel).⁹

If one party to a settlement agreement breaches the agreement, the other party may elect either to rescind the agreement and pursue the underlying action, or enforce the agreement. *L&A Drywall, supra*, 608 P.2d at 629. Here, Davis elected to enforce the settlement agreement with LDIII. [Ex. F to Zundel Aff. (R. 270) (Add. A hereto)]

⁹ Even if the statute of frauds applicable to real estate transactions applied here, it was satisfied by the e-mails between counsel for the parties, and the REPC incorporated into the settlement agreement. *See, Sacramento Baseball Club, Inc. v. The Great Northern Baseball Co.*, 748 P.2d 1058, 1060 (Utah 1987) "If the parties intended to create one contract, the number of documents that memorialize the agreement is irrelevant." (citation omitted)

A. The Evidence Regarding the Settlement Agreement

It is undisputed in the record that on July 9, 2008 LDIII and defendants, through their respective counsel of record, agreed “. . . to settle this action by completing the sale of the real property and water rights at issue, from plaintiff [LDIII] to defendant Richard W. Davis, or his designee, on the same terms as originally agreed to by the parties, as evidenced by their Real Estate Purchase Contract signed on August 29, 2007, with credit for the \$300,000 paid to LDIII, but without the accrual of interest or attorney fees.” [Zundel Aff., ¶¶ 6-7 (R. 286-87, emphasis added) (Add. A hereto); Boevers Aff., ¶¶ 3-4 (R. 305, emphasis added) (Add. B hereto)]

LDIII and defendants had informed Mr. Snuffer and Mr. Zundel, respectively, that they agreed to settle the case on this basis. Mr. Snuffer and Mr. Zundel further agreed on July 9 that documentation of the settlement would consist only of the closing documents necessary to complete the real estate transaction, and a stipulation and order to dismiss the action with prejudice. [Zundel Aff., ¶ 8 (R. 286) (Add. A hereto); Boevers Aff., ¶ 5 (R. 305) (Add. B hereto)]

Mr. Boevers’ July 11, 2008 e-mail to Mr. Snuffer confirmed that pursuant to the settlement agreement, the real property and water rights would be sold to Davis “or his designee.” [Ex. B to Boevers Aff. (R. 295, emphasis added) (Add. B hereto)] Contrary to LDIII’s arguments, the closing documents Mr. Thornton e-mailed to Mr. Snuffer on July 28, 2008 were not a counteroffer or material change to the settlement agreement, but

were merely “drafts,” reflecting that Mr. Davis “desires to have the different parcels conveyed to . . . designees” in accordance with the settlement agreement. Mr. Thornton’s July 28 e-mail further requested Mr. Snuffer to “review” the documents and provide Mr. Thornton with his “comments.” [Ex. B to Thornton Aff. (R. 330) (Add. C hereto)] After receiving the closing documents about which LDIII complains, Mr. Snuffer’s July 30, 2008 e-mail stated: “We also have a settlement . . . I cannot imagine a problem will occur which we cannot resolve in papering the settlement of this case.” [Ex. B to Zundel Aff. (R. 278) (Add. A hereto)] The foregoing e-mails between the authorized agents of Davis and LDIII, respectively, created a binding settlement agreement under *Goodmansen, supra*.

LDIII submitted no affidavits or other evidence to controvert the Zundel, Boevers, and Thornton affidavits, and instead admitted or did not dispute virtually all of the foregoing facts. (R. 358-62) Thus, the district court properly made the following findings of fact: “Defendant Richard W. Davis (“Davis”) made no change to the settlement agreement with plaintiff LD III, LLC (“LDIII”), material or otherwise. The settlement agreement is and always was that LDIII would convey the subject parcels of real property and water rights to Davis or his designee.” [(Add. E hereto, R. 452, emphasis added); *See also*, R. 416 (Add. D hereto)]

In its opening brief here, LDIII argues that the settlement agreement was that LDIII would convey the real property and water rights only to Davis, not to his designees. However, LDIII ignores the undisputed evidence, and the district court’s

findings of fact, that the settlement agreement required LDIII to convey the real property and water rights either to Davis or his designees, at Davis' option. Thus, LDIII makes no attempt to marshal the evidence in support of the district court's findings, and the district court should be affirmed for that reason alone. *See, Wilson Supply, supra*, 2002 UT 94 at ¶ 26, 54 P.3d 1177.

B. The Evidence Regarding the REPC

LDIII previously interpreted the REPC (incorporated into the settlement agreement) as permitting transfers from LDIII directly to Davis' designees, rather than to Davis. Prior to filing this action, LDIII sold one of the parcels of the subject real property and appurtenant water rights directly to Mr. Warner, one of Davis' designees. (R. 60-64, 104, 90-92) Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the \$300,000 Warner paid LDIII was credited against Davis' \$1,500,000 purchase price under the REPC (Add. A hereto, R. 286; Add. B hereto, R. 305), leaving \$1,200,000 to be paid. Under the REPC, LDIII was also willing to sell other parcels of the real property and appurtenant water rights directly to other Davis designees such as the Sandstroms, so long as those transfers occurred in a timely fashion. (R. 399-403, 104, 73-74, 396) Thus, transfers directly to Davis' designees are not a counteroffer or material change to the REPC, as incorporated into the settlement agreement.

Further evidence that transfers directly to Davis' designees are not a counteroffer or material change to the REPC or the settlement agreement is that the REPC does not contain a provision prohibiting assignments. (Add. B hereto, R. 297-301) If LDIII were

genuinely concerned about not being required to transfer directly to designees of Davis, as opposed to Davis himself, it would have added a non-assignment provision to the REPC (which it did not do). Absent such a provision, it is presumed that a contract is assignable. *See, Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991) (“Generally, all beneficial rights under an executory contract are assignable.”); *Martynes and Assoc. No. 1 v. Devonshire Square Apartments*, 680 P.2d 246, 249 (Colo. App. 1984) (enforcing assignment of trust deed, where “[t]here was no provision which prohibited assignment . . .”).

The only reason LDIII gives for contending that proposed transfers to Davis’ designees, rather than to Davis, are a material change to the REPC and the settlement agreement is the allegation that Davis was attempting to commit tax evasion. However, this defamatory allegation is baseless, and LDIII cites to no evidence in the record (as opposed to argument based upon unfounded supposition) that supports this allegation. As Davis proffered at the hearing on the motion to enforce the settlement agreement, all of Davis’ designees in the closing documents e-mailed to Mr. Snuffer on July 28, except for the Sandstroms, are owned by Davis. (R. 693, pp. 15, 29; R. 374-81)

II. BECAUSE DAVIS RESOLVED LDIII'S ONLY OBJECTION TO THE FORM OF THE CLOSING DOCUMENTS, THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING REQUIRED LDIII TO CLOSE THE TRANSACTION

Contrary to LDIII's arguments, and despite the fact that Davis had the contractual right to do so, he never insisted that the transfers be to his designees. Mr. Thornton's July 28, 2008 e-mail to Mr. Snuffer simply states:

Attached for your review are drafts of the . . . closing documents for the sale of [sic] LD III property to Richard Davis. Mr. Davis desires to have the different parcels conveyed to affiliated companies and designees as shown in the deeds.

. . .
Please review these documents . . . and get back to me as soon as possible with your comments.

[Ex. B to Thornton Aff. (R. 330, emphasis added) (Add. C hereto)] Mr. Snuffer never responded to Mr. Thornton's July 28, 2008 e-mail, and LDIII never objected to the transfers to Davis' designees, which were expressly permitted by the settlement agreement, until serving its memorandum in opposition to Davis' motion to enforce the settlement agreement on September 10, 2008. (R. 345-64)

Thus, the present dispute does not involve a counteroffer or material change to the settlement agreement (there were none), and instead involves LDIII's breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing contained in that agreement, whereby LDIII "impliedly promised not to 'intentionally or purposefully do anything which . . . [would] destroy or injure . . . [Davis'] right to receive the fruits of the contract,'" and to act ' . . . consistent with the agreed upon common purpose and . . . [Davis'] justified

expectations. . . .” See, *Keith Jorgensen’s, Inc. v. Ogden City Mall Co.*, 2001 UT App 128, ¶ 22, 26 P.3d 872 (citations omitted). The implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing required LDIII to review the draft closing documents Mr. Thornton e-mailed to Mr. Snuffer on July 28, and give Mr. Thornton its comments (including any objections to the contemplated transfers to Davis’ designees), as Mr. Thornton requested.

LDIII failed to do so. Instead, out of the blue, Mr. Garriott (Mr. Snuffer’s associate) sent Mr. Zundel an e-mail on August 20, 2008 stating that “. . . the terms of the proposed settlement . . . are not acceptable to our client,” without further explanation. [Ex. F to Zundel Aff. (R. 270) (Add. A hereto)] Mr. Zundel (accurately) responded by e-mail that same day: “Our deal was that the REPC terms would apply. We have demanded nothing in addition. We have a deal.” (*Id.*) While Mr. Zundel’s August 20 e-mail further indicated that Davis would file a motion to enforce the settlement agreement, Mr. Zundel also inquired about what terms were not acceptable to LDIII. (*Id.*) He received no response. (Zundel Aff., ¶ 15, R. 284, Add. A hereto)

Thus, as indicated above, Davis had no idea why LDIII was refusing to close in accordance with the REPC, until LDIII served its memorandum in opposition to Davis’ motion to enforce the settlement agreement on September 10, 2008. (R. 345-64) Davis’ counsel did not receive LDIII’s memorandum in opposition until September 12, 2008, immediately contacted Davis, and sent Mr. Snuffer an e-mail that same day agreeing (even though Davis was not contractually obligated to do so) to fully resolve LDIII’s only objection by taking title in his own name or that of BBRD, the other buyer listed in the

REPC. (R. 417)¹⁰ Then, at the hearing on defendants' motion to enforce the settlement agreement, Davis tendered revised closing documents that reflected the transferee as Davis only. (R. 693, pp. 14, 21) In addition, he had tendered funds into escrow sufficient to close the transaction, and he was ready to close immediately. (R. 693, p. 6)¹¹

Thus, Davis made no counteroffer or change to the settlement agreement, material or otherwise. The agreement is, and always has been, that the transfers could be made to Davis' designees, as the district court found. (Add. E hereto, R. 452) However, because the issue is not a material one, Davis agreed to take title in his own name, as the district court also found. (*Id.*)

The fact that LDIII refused to accept resolution of its only concern about the form of the closing documents, simply illustrates the absence of good faith and fair dealing on its part. LDIII has settlor's remorse, and is doing nothing more than creating a pretextual reason for not closing on the settlement agreement to which it agreed.

¹⁰ The REPC erroneously refers to BBRD, L.C. as BBRD, Inc., an entity that does not exist.

¹¹ Contrary to LDIII's arguments, the only material term upon which the parties had not yet reached express agreement was a deadline for closing. However, where an otherwise enforceable contract is silent as to time for performance, the law recognizes an implied agreement that performance will occur within a reasonable time under the circumstances. *See, Coulter & Smith, Ltd. v. Russell*, 966 P.2d 852, 858 (Utah 1998). As indicated, Davis was ready, willing and able to perform immediately and communicated this to LDIII.

III. LDIII'S APPEAL IS FRIVOLOUS, AND DEFENDANTS SHOULD BE AWARDED THEIR REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES INCURRED ON APPEAL

Under *Utah R. App. P.* 33(b), a frivolous appeal includes “one that is not grounded in fact.” *See also, Hunt v. Hurst*, 785 P.2d 414, 416-417 (Utah 1990) (ruling appeal was frivolous where there was no factual basis for it). A showing of bad faith is not necessary to a determination that an appeal is frivolous. *O'Brien v. Rush*, 744 P.2d 306, 209-10 (Utah App. 1987).

Here, there is simply no factual basis in the record for LDIII's appeal. As shown above, the only evidence in the record pertaining to the settlement is the Zundel Aff., Boevers Aff. and Thornton Aff. (Add. A through C hereto) In the district court, LDIII either admitted or did not dispute the facts in those affidavits. (R. 358-62)

The Zundel and Boevers Affidavits establish that the settlement agreement is and always was that the transfers would be either to Davis or his designees. Yet, LDIII continues to argue on this appeal that the agreement only required a transfer to Davis.

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